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VERIFIED PETITION FOR 


WRIT OF MANDATE AND 


COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND DECLARATORY RELIEF


(CCP §§ 526, 1060, 1085; WATER CODE § 13330)





(PURSUANT TO PORTER-COLOGNE WATER QUALITY ACT AND FEDERAL CLEAN WATER ACT)�
�
INTRODUCTION


By this action, petitioners and plaintiffs WaterKeepers Northern California, Santa Barbara ChannelKeeper (a project of Environmental Defense Center), Santa Monica BayKeeper, Orange County CoastKeeper, San Diego BayKeeper, and Heal the Bay, (hereinafter collectively “petitioners”) challenge, as inconsistent with the requirements of state and federal law, the Policy for Implementation of Toxics Standards for Inland Surface Waters, Enclosed Bays, and Estuaries of California (“Inland Waters Plan” or “Plan”) promulgated by respondent and defendant California State Water Resources Control Board (“State Board”).


The Inland Waters Plan is intended to implement the various water quality criteria established by the state of California and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) for priority toxic pollutants in California’s inland waters.  Petitioners allege that, instead of implementing these criteria, the Plan undermines them, authorizing the issuance of pollution discharge permits that will perpetuate the contamination of California’s rivers, lakes, bays, and estuaries with toxic pollutants such as mercury, selenium, dioxin, and polychlorinated biphenyls at levels that harm aquatic life and habitats and cause cancer and reproductive damage in humans.


Specifically, petitioners allege that the Inland Waters Plan is inconsistent with the requirements of the Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act (“Porter-Cologne Act”), Cal. Water Code §§ 13000 et seq., and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (“Clean Water Act” or “CWA”), 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq., and its implementing regulations, 40 C.F.R. parts 122, 123, 124 and 131, for at least the following reasons:  (1) The Plan uses scientifically indefensible methods for measuring the ambient background concentration of pollutants that will result in inadequate limits on toxic pollutant discharges; (2) the Plan uses scientifically indefensible methods for determining whether toxic pollutant discharges require water quality-based effluent limits; (3) the Plan illegally authorizes the use of mixing zones and dilution credits to allow greater discharges than is appropriate for persistent and bioaccumulative pollutants; (4) the Plan illegally authorizes compliance schedules that allow dischargers up to 20 years to comply with water quality criteria; (5) the Plan illegally authorizes compliance determinations to be based on “minimum level”-based effluent limits instead of water quality-based effluent limitations; (6) the Plan fails to require water quality-based effluent limits for dioxin-like compounds that are as, or nearly as, toxic as dioxin itself; and (7) the Plan allows for case-by-case exceptions to the water quality-based effluent limitations requirement that are not authorized by law.


JURISDICTION AND VENUE


This Petition for Writ of Mandate and Complaint is brought pursuant to the provisions of California Code of Civil Procedure §§ 526, 1060, 1085 and, in the alternative, Water Code § 13330.  Venue is proper in the Superior Court for the County of San Francisco under Code of Civil Procedure § 401(1).


PARTIES


Petitioner WATERKEEPERS NORTHERN CALIFORNIA is a non-profit public benefit corporation organized under the laws of the State of California with its main office in San Francisco, California.  WaterKeepers Northern California has approximately 1,700 members who live and/or recreate in and around the San Francisco Bay and Delta watershed.  WaterKeepers Northern California is dedicated to the preservation, protection, and defense of the environment, wildlife, and natural resources of the San Francisco Bay and Delta.  To further these goals, WaterKeepers Northern California actively seeks federal and state agency implementation of the Porter-Cologne Act and Clean Water Act and, where necessary, directly initiates enforcement actions under those laws on behalf of itself and its members.  Members of WaterKeepers Northern California reside near the myriad waterways making up the Bay and Delta watershed and use and enjoy those waters for recreation and other activities.  Members of WaterKeepers Northern California use these waterways to fish, sail, boat, kayak, birdwatch, view wildlife, and engage in scientific study, including pollution monitoring activities.  


Petitioner SANTA BARBARA CHANNELKEEPER (A PROJECT OF ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENSE CENTER) is a membership- and volunteer-based non-profit organization dedicated to the ecological health of the Santa Barbara Channel, its watersheds and habitats.  As a member of the WaterKeeper Alliance, Santa Barbara ChannelKeeper shares a common purpose with Keepers throughout the country: to protect marine sanctuaries, coastal estuaries, bays, wetlands, creeks, and watersheds from illegal dumping, hazardous spills, toxic discharges and habitat degradation.  Members of Santa Barbara ChannelKeeper use the waters of the Santa Barbara Channel to fish, sail, boat, kayak, birdwatch, view wildlife and engage in scientific study, including monitoring activities.


Petitioner SANTA MONICA BAYKEEPER is a non-profit organization dedicated to the preservation and restoration of Santa Monica Bay, San Pedro Bay and adjacent coastal waters, including inland streams and estuaries.  Santa Monica BayKeeper has approximately 1,000 members, most of whom reside in Los Angeles County.  Santa Monica BayKeeper’s mission includes the monitoring and protection of the region’s waters, including local watersheds, marine sanctuaries, rivers, coastal estuaries, wetlands and bays from illegal dumping, hazardous spills, toxic sources and other pollution, including polluted runoff.  When water quality violations or habitat destruction threaten the region’s waters, Santa Monica BayKeeper pursues compliance efforts and remediation.  Members of Santa Monica BayKeeper use, enjoy, and benefit from inland waters and enclosed bays and estuaries in the Los Angeles area. The quality of the receiving waters directly affects the health, recreational, aesthetic, scientific and environmental interests of Santa Monica BayKeeper and its members.


Petitioner ORANGE COUNTY COASTKEEPER is a California non-profit corporation whose members use the recreational waters of the Orange County watershed.  Orange County is located in one of the largest watersheds in Southern California, a watershed that covers over 3,000 square miles, crosses over four county boundaries, and has about four-and-a-half million residents.  Members of Orange County CoastKeeper use the inland and coastal waters of the county for, among other things, recreation, fishing, and wildlife viewing, all of which activities are affected by the quality of the inland waters.  


Petitioner SAN DIEGO BAYKEEPER is a California non-profit organization with approximately 500 members.  On behalf of its members, San Diego BayKeeper works to preserve, enhance and protect the state’s marine sanctuaries, coastal estuaries, wetlands and bays, particularly San Diego Bay, from illegal dumping, hazardous spills, toxic discharges and habitat degradation.  San Diego BayKeeper regularly pursues the effective implementation of the Porter-Cologne Act and Clean Water Act by state and federal agencies to ensure that the waters of San Diego Bay and their beneficial uses are protected.  Members of San Diego BayKeeper use, enjoy and benefit from waters of San Diego Bay and elsewhere in California through contact and non-contact water recreation, recreational and sport fishing, scientific study, wildlife observation, aesthetic enjoyment, and other recognized beneficial uses.  The quality of waters in San Diego Bay and elsewhere in California, including those waters identified as impaired, directly affects the health, recreational, aesthetic, scientific, environmental, and economic interests of San Diego BayKeeper's members.  


Petitioner HEAL THE BAY is a California non-profit corporation based in Santa Monica, California, with over 10,000 members and volunteers located in Los Angeles and Ventura Counties.  On behalf of its members, Heal the Bay is dedicated to making Santa Monica Bay and Southern California coastal waters and tributaries thereto, including but not limited to estuaries, rivers, streams, lagoons, wetlands and bays, safe and healthy again for people and aquatic life, and suitable for all beneficial uses.  To accomplish this mission, Heal the Bay conducts independent scientific research and educational outreach to provide a better understanding of the effects of pollution on aquatic resources.  On behalf of its members, Heal the Bay regularly pursues the active implementation of the Porter-Cologne Act and Clean Water Act by state and federal agencies to ensure that southern California waterways and their beneficial uses are protected.  


The above-described interests of Petitioners and their respective members have been, are being, and will continue to be directly and adversely affected by the Respondent’s failure to comply with the Porter-Cologne Act and the Clean Water Act in adopting the Inland Waters Plan, as alleged herein.


Respondent STATE WATER RESOURCES CONTROL BOARD (“State Board”) is a public agency of the State of California.  Among other duties and powers, the State Board is responsible for promulgating water quality policy for the state and supervising the development and implementation of water quality control plans for individual regions of the state.  The State Board is the designated state water pollution control agency for purposes of the federal Clean Water Act, and is authorized to implement provisions of the Act, including the issuance of permits for the discharge of pollutants into state waters. The State Board promulgated the Inland Waters Plan at issue herein.


Real Parties in Interest REGIONAL WATER QUALITY CONTROL BOARDS, REGIONS 1 THROUGH 9 (“Regional Boards”) are public agencies of the State of California established by the Legislature in the Porter-Cologne Act.  There is a Regional Board for each of nine regions in California:  North Coast, San Francisco Bay, Central Coast, Los Angeles, Santa Ana, San Diego, Central Valley, Lahontan, and Colorado River Basin.  The general mission of the Regional Boards, subject to the supervisory authority and oversight of the State Board, is to develop and enforce water quality objectives and implementation plans to protect beneficial uses of the waters of the state in their respective regions.  Specifically, the Regional Boards develop “basin plans” for their respective hydrologic areas and issue permits and waste discharge requirements to dischargers of conventional and toxic pollutants.  The Regional Boards are charged with implementing the Inland Waters Plan at issue herein, and their interests and obligations in issuing permits for the discharge of toxic pollutants will be affected if the Court grants the relief sought herein.


STATUTORY CONTEXT


Clean Water Act


In 1972, Congress enacted the Clean Water Act to “restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.”  33 U.S.C. § 1251(a).  The Act prohibits the discharge of pollutants into the nation’s waters except as specifically authorized.  33 U.S.C. § 1311(a).  Point source dischargers, such as refineries and wastewater treatment facilities, must each obtain a “national pollutant discharge elimination system” (“NPDES”) permit that contains technology-based limits on pollutant effluents, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(b)(1)(A),(B), (b)(2), as well as any more stringent limitations required to comply with state water quality standards.  33 U.S.C. § 1311(b)(1)(C), 1312(a), 1342(a)(1); 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(1).  The latter are called “water-quality-based effluent limitations.” 


Each state must establish water quality standards that specify the amount of pollution allowed in each of that state’s water bodies.  33 U.S.C. § 1313(a)-(c); 40 C.F.R. part 131. Water quality standards consist of three required elements:  (1) “designated uses” for each of the state’s water bodies or for discrete segments of a water body; (2) “water quality criteria” to protect the designated uses; and (3) an antidegradation policy, consistent with the federal antidegradation policy, that prohibits the worsening of water quality.  40 C.F.R. §§ 131.10, 131.11, 131.12.  


Water quality criteria, the second element of the water quality standards, are established for specific pollutants or for general aquatic conditions.  40 C.F.R. § 131.3(b).  They may be expressed in either numerical form (for example, “0.01 microgram of arsenic per liter”) or narrative form (for example, “no toxics in toxic amounts”).  Id. § 131.11(b).  


EPA maintains supervisory authority over state water quality standards, id. §§ 131.13, 131.21, and may promulgate a standard for a state if necessary, id. § 131.22(b).


The Clean Water Act provides for especially stringent regulation of toxic pollutants:  “[I]t is the national policy that the discharge of toxic pollutants in toxic amounts be prohibited.”  33 U.S.C. § 1251(a)(3).  The Act requires EPA to maintain a list of toxic pollutants, 33 U.S.C. § 1317(a)(1), and requires states to adopt, where feasible, numerical water quality criteria for those listed toxic pollutants for which EPA has published criteria, 33 U.S.C. § 1313(c)(2)(B).  EPA has published criteria for 126 toxic pollutants; these are known as “priority toxic pollutants.”  40 C.F.R. § 131.36(b).  These chemicals, which include, for example, arsenic, benzene, cadmium, chromium, copper, cyanide, dieldrin, 2,3,7,8-TCDD (dioxin), lead, mercury, nickel, several polychlorinated biphenyls (“PCBs”), selenium, silver, and toluene, are some of the most toxic chemicals known. 


Each state must identify those waters or water segments for which technology-based effluent limitations are not stringent enough to implement the applicable water quality standards.  33 U.S.C. § 1313(d)(1)(A), (B).  These waters are known as “water quality limited segments,” or “impaired waters,” and they are generally listed as impaired for particular pollutants.  Once a state has published its list of impaired waters, it must establish “total maximum daily loads” (“TMDLs”) which place a numerical limit on the amount of the impairing pollutant that may exist in the impaired water to implement the applicable water quality standards.  33 U.S.C. § 1313(d)(1)(C), (D).  Once a TMDL is established, it forms the basis for the effluent limitations included in discharge permits.  Id.  Very few TMDLs have been established for California waters.


Porter-Cologne Act


In 1972, the California Legislature amended the Porter-Cologne Act of 1969 to authorize the state to implement the provisions of the federal Clean Water Act.  Water Code §§ 13370-13389.  By its own terms, the provisions of the Porter-Cologne Act must be read to conform with the requirements of the federal Act.  Id. § 13372.


The Porter-Cologne Act declares it to be state policy “that the quality of all the waters of the state shall be protected for use and enjoyment by the people of the state.”  Water Code § 13000.  The Porter-Cologne Act also declares it to be state policy “that the health, safety and welfare of the people of the state require[] that there be a statewide program for the control of the quality of all the waters of the state; and that the state must be prepared to exercise its full power and jurisdiction to protect the quality of waters in the state from degradation originating inside or outside the boundaries of the state. . . .”  Id. 


The State Board is the designated state agency for all water pollution control purposes under the Clean Water Act and is authorized to exercise any powers delegated to the State by the federal Act.  Water Code § 13160.  The State Board is authorized to administer the NPDES permit program in California.


The Porter-Cologne Act requires the State Board to “formulate and adopt state policy for water quality control.”  Id. §§ 13140-13142.  State water quality control policy must conform with the policies of the state Act.  Id. § 13140. 


The Porter-Cologne Act also requires the Regional Boards to adopt regional water quality control plans, or “basin plans.”  Id. § 13240.  The basin plans are required to implement the water quality standards provisions of section 303(c) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1313(c), by identifying the beneficial uses of the region’s waters, the water quality objectives that will protect those uses, and a program of implementation.  Id. §§ 13240-13242.  “Beneficial uses” under state law are the equivalent of “designated uses” under federal law.  Water quality “objectives” under state law are the equivalent of water quality “criteria” under federal law.


The Regional Boards have primary responsibility for translating the requirements of state water quality policy and the basin plans into “waste discharge requirements” (“WDRs”) imposed on individual sources of pollution.  Id. §§ 13263, 13377, 13382.5.  “WDR” is the term used by the state for NPDES and other types of discharge permits, id. § 13374; both will be referred to hereafter as “permits.”  Permits issued by the Regional Boards must “apply and ensure compliance with all applicable provisions of the [federal Clean Water Act]. . . together with any more stringent effluent standards or limitations necessary to implement water quality control plans, or for the protection of beneficial uses . . . .”  Id. § 13377.


FACTUAL BACKGROUND


Toxic Pollutants in California’s Inland Waters


Hundreds of California lakes, rivers, creeks, ponds, bays, reservoirs and estuaries are too polluted to support wildlife habitat and many human uses.  EPA has listed 509 impaired water segments in California because these water bodies are so contaminated that they cannot support designated beneficial uses such as recreation, drinking water, fishing and wildlife habitat.  These waters are contaminated with combinations of scores of different pollutants, including heavy metals, pesticides, solvents, fertilizer and sewage residues.  Once in the water, many of these pollutants diversify into multiple chemical phases, or accumulate in sediment and the tissues of fish and other organisms.  Other pollutants contribute to nutrient loading, eutrophication and oxygen depletion, and the proliferation of harmful bacteria. 


Many of these pollutants are acutely toxic when discharged at high concentrations, routinely resulting in fish and bird kills and bearing the potential to poison human users of water resources.  At lower, average concentrations, these pollutants are insidious.  Chronic toxicity reveals itself over time in human and animal populations as lowered rates of survival or reproductive success, or as abnormally high incidences of disease or physiological disorders.  Of overriding concern to human health is chronic exposure to the known or suspected carcinogens that have become ubiquitous in our water resources.  The effects of chronic toxicity on aquatic life can cascade through the rest of the system, altering food chains and community structure.


In San Francisco Bay, for example, numerous pollutants have impaired literally all reaches of the Bay and its numerous tributaries, endangering fisheries and wildlife, limiting recreation, and posing serious health risks to subsistence fisherfolk.  State authorities have issued health advisories for mercury-, polychlorinated biphenyls- and dioxin-contaminated fish.  Many fisheries are in decline and others have disappeared completely.  Increasing urban development, industrial activity and higher rates of pesticide use all conspire to worsen water quality.  A legacy of persistent toxic "hot spots" remains throughout the Bay, recirculating contaminants into the ecosystem.  If the situation in San Francisco Bay were an isolated case, there would still be ample cause for concern; unfortunately, it is but one chapter in a statewide tale of water resource degradation.


The Inland Waters Plan will have tremendous influence over the fate of these impaired waterways.  Regional Board permit writers with limited time and resources facing complex state and federal statutes will and must rely upon the Plan in formulating permits for priority toxic pollutants.  The permitting process is the core of the state's regulatory program for water quality and is the primary mechanism for limiting pollutants from individual discharges.  As binding direction on Regional Board permit writers, the Inland Waters Plan will have far-reaching impacts on future water quality throughout the state. Because permit writers are under intense pressure from dischargers to issue permits bearing the least degree of protection for water quality required by law, the loopholes, omissions, exemptions and delays authorized by the Plan will result in the institutionalization of weak permits for priority toxic pollutants in California’s inland waters.


Criteria for Priority Toxic Pollutants in California Waters


Most of the basin plans for the nine regions contain narrative toxicity objectives, but between them they contain only a handful of chemical-specific numerical objectives for priority toxic pollutants.  In 1991, the State Board adopted two statewide plans, the Inland Waters Plan and Enclosed Bays and Estuaries Plan, which contained additional numerical objectives for priority toxic pollutants.  Even those plans, though, failed to include a complete set of water quality criteria, and EPA was compelled to fill in the gaps with criteria published in 1992 as part of the “National Toxics Rule” (“NTR”).  40 C.F.R. § 131.36.  In 1994, the State Board rescinded the two statewide plans under court order, and since that time California has been without the comprehensive set of numerical water quality criteria for priority toxic pollutants that is required by section 303(c)(2)(B) of the Clean Water Act.  


Since 1994, EPA has continually pressured the State Board to comply with the Clean Water Act and reestablish and implement the criteria for priority toxic pollutants that were vacated when the statewide plans were rescinded.  Finally, in the face of the State Board’s failure to act, EPA established the criteria itself in the “California Toxics Rule” (“CTR”), promulgated on May 18, 2000.  65 Fed. Reg. 31682.  


The new Inland Waters Plan, which the State Board promulgated on March 2, 2000, does not itself contain water quality criteria/objectives.  Instead, the Plan purports to establish procedures for implementing, through effluent limitations in individual discharge permits, the various criteria for priority toxic pollutants established in the CTR, the NTR, and the basin plans.


The State Board submitted the regulatory provisions of the Inland Waters Plan to the Office of Administrative Law for approval, as is required by State law before these provisions can take effect.  Gov’t Code §§ 11349.3(a); 11353(b).  On April 28, 2000, the Office of Administrative Law approved the Inland Waters Plan with the exception of seven provisions which it disapproved and severed.  With the exception of these disapproved provisions, the Inland Waters Plan took effect with respect to criteria in the NTR and basin plans on April 28, 2000, and with respect to the CTR criteria on May 18, 2000.  


With the exception of two appendices not at issue in this action, the Inland Waters Plan has full regulatory effect and is therefore binding on the Regional Boards.  Inland Waters Plan at 1.


Flaws in the Inland Waters Plan


The Inland Waters Plan purports to provide a consistent statewide methodology for implementing, through permits issued to pollutant dischargers, the water quality criteria for priority toxic pollutants contained in the CTR, the NTR, and the basin plans.


The Inland Waters Plan is inconsistent with the requirements of the Porter-Cologne Act and Clean Water Act in at least the following respects:  (1) the Plan uses a scientifically indefensible method for calculating the “ambient background concentration” of priority toxic pollutants that will result in inadequate controls on toxic discharges (Inland Waters Plan §§ 1.3, 1.4.3.1, 1.4.4); (2) the Plan uses a “reasonable potential analysis” for determining whether a water quality-based effluent limitation is required for a priority toxic pollutant discharge that will result in inadequate controls on toxic discharges (§ 1.3); (3) the Plan authorizes the use of mixing zones and dilution credits for discharges of persistent and bioaccumulative pollutants (§1.4.2); (4) the Plan allows for 20-year compliance schedules that are not authorized by law (§ 2.1); (5) the Plan authorizes compliance determinations to be based on “minimum level”-based effluent limits instead of water quality-based effluent limitations (§ 2.4); (6) the Plan fails to require effluent limitations for dioxin-like compounds that are as, or nearly as, toxic as dioxin itself (§ 3); and (7) the Plan allows for case-by-case exceptions to the water quality-based effluent limitations requirement that are not authorized by law (§ 5.3).


Calculating Ambient Background Concentration


The “ambient background concentration” refers to the existing concentration of a pollutant in the receiving water before an additional quantity of the pollutant is discharged from a point source.  The ambient background concentration is a key component of several important determinations made by Regional Board permit writers; its accuracy is therefore a critical factor in writing permits that achieve and maintain water quality standards.


The Inland Waters Plan measures ambient background concentration as the “observed maximum” for at least the following important purposes:  (a) determining whether a discharge has a reasonable potential to contribute to a violation of a water quality standard and, therefore, requires a water quality-based effluent limitation under 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(1)(i) (Inland Waters Plan § 1.3); (b) calculating the water quality-based effluent limitation (§ 1.4); and (c) calculating “intake water credits” (§ 1.4.4).


According to the Inland Waters Plan, determining the observed maximum ambient background concentration involves, essentially, gathering all available data on the ambient background concentration of a pollutant and then selecting the sample with the highest concentration as the ambient background concentration.  See Inland Waters Plan at 16.  This method of determination is fundamentally flawed in at least the following respects:


(a)	There is no requirement that a minimum number of samples be used, and in reality the number of samples available to make this determination is often very small.  The reliability of an estimate of the expected maximum concentration from a small data set using the Inland Waters Plan method will therefore be poor, and the data pool will fail to capture the actual variability of pollutant concentration in a river, lake, or estuary.  Without a statistically-based procedure to account for these problems of uncertainty and variability, the observed maximum ambient background determination will not be representative of the actual maximum concentration likely to be experienced in the water body over the term of the permit.  If the ambient background concentration is erroneously determined to be below the criterion for the pollutant, then a water quality-based effluent limitation may not be imposed at all, or the effluent limitation imposed may be insufficiently stringent to achieve water quality standards.


(b)	The Inland Waters Plan compounds the unreliability of the ambient background concentration determination as described above by plugging the concentration into a “steady-state” equation for purposes of calculating effluent limits for a particular discharge.  See Inland Waters Plan at 5.  A steady-state model, as distinct from a “dynamic” model, assumes that water flows, concentrations, and other factors are constant, whereas in reality they are not.  Because steady-state models embody highly simplifying assumptions about water conditions, they must be used only in conjunction with data based on a consistent set of “worst-case” conditions in order to adequately protect water quality.  The observed maximum ambient background concentration, as determined by the Inland Waters Plan, does not reflect worst-case conditions because it is not necessarily based on data known to reflect critical conditions, such as periods of low flow and high pollutant concentrations.  The combination of the two techniques — the use of the observed maximum for measuring ambient background concentration and the use of a steady-state equation for applying it — is scientifically indefensible and will result in effluent limitations that are insufficient to achieve water quality standards.


(c)	As set forth in the Inland Waters Plan, the observed maximum ambient background concentration measures the concentration of pollutants in the water column only, not in fish tissues or sediments.  Most numerical criteria/objectives apply to water column concentrations, whereas toxicity in sediment and fish tissues is subject only to narrative criteria/objectives.  The use of the observed maximum, therefore, does not capture situations in which the receiving water already exceeds a narrative criterion/objective based on toxicity of fish tissues or sediments.  Because, under the Inland Waters Plan, the observed maximum determination forms the basis for decisions about whether to impose a water quality-based effluent limitation and, if so, how to calculate the limitation, the result is that effluent limitations will not be imposed in most instances where a receiving water exceeds a narrative criterion/objective. 


(d)	Under the Inland Waters Plan, if the observed maximum ambient background concentration and the intake water concentration of a pollutant exceed the criterion/objective for that pollutant, then a facility discharging into that water may be eligible for an “intake water credit.”  See Inland Waters Plan at 17.  In other words, a Regional Board may establish an effluent limitation that allows the facility to discharge “a mass and concentration of the intake water pollutant that is no greater than the mass and concentration found in the facility’s intake water.”  Id.  The Plan fails to define “intake water concentration” or prescribe how this concentration is to be determined.  If the Regional Board determines intake water concentration based on the “observed maximum,” as it does for ambient background concentration, then the pollutant in the discharge will be allowed to exceed not only the criterion but also the average long-term ambient background concentration in the intake water.  In short, even during periods when the ambient background concentration does not exceed the criterion, the discharge would exceed the criterion.


Reasonable Potential Analysis


Where the technology-based effluent limits contained in a permit are insufficient to achieve water quality standards in the receiving water, the permit must include “any more stringent limitation, including those necessary to meet water quality standards. . . .”  33 U.S.C. § 1311(b)(1)(C).  These more stringent limitations “must control all pollutants . . . which the [Regional Board] determines are or may be discharged at a level which will cause, have the reasonable potential to cause, or contribute to an excursion above any State water quality standard, including State narrative criteria for water quality.”  40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(1)(i).


The Inland Waters Plan mandates an eight-step procedure for undertaking this “reasonable potential analysis” to determine whether a water quality-based effluent limit is required for a particular toxic pollutant in a discharge.  Inland Waters Plan § 1.3.  This procedure is fundamentally flawed in at least the following respects: 


(a)	The procedure measures the ambient background concentration as the observed maximum, which is scientifically and legally deficient for all the reasons discussed above in paragraphs 37-39.


(b)	The procedure measures the effluent concentration as the observed maximum, which is analogous to the observed maximum ambient background concentration and is scientifically and legally deficient for all the reasons discussed above in paragraphs 37-39.


(c)	The Inland Waters Plan provides that where a discharger persuades the Regional Board that the data necessary to conduct the reasonable potential analysis for the pollutant are unavailable or insufficient, or that the analytical methods used to measure pollutant levels are insufficiently sensitive to detect below the criterion level, then the Regional Board is prohibited from including a water quality-based effluent limitation in the permit.  See Inland Waters Plan at 5, 21.  This provision rewards dischargers for failing to comply with the monitoring requirements in their permits and failing to accurately characterize their effluents, and offers dischargers a gaping loophole through which to avoid the requirement of water quality-based effluent limitations.


Mixing Zones and Dilution Credits


The Inland Waters Plan grants Regional Boards the discretion to allow “mixing zones” and “dilution credits” on a case-by-case basis for any point source discharge regulated through a NPDES permit.  Inland Waters Plan § 1.4.2.  A mixing zone is “a limited volume of receiving water that is allocated for mixing with a wastewater discharge where water quality criteria can be exceeded without causing adverse effects to the overall water body.”  Id. at Appendix 1-4.  A dilution credit is “the amount of dilution granted to a discharge in the calculation of a water quality-based effluent limitation, based on the allowance of a specified mixing zone.”  Id. at Appendix 1-2.  The theory underpinning the mixing zone and dilution credit concepts is that the receiving water will assimilate or dilute the pollutant in the effluent within the boundaries of the mixing zone so that the criterion/objective is met at the edge of the zone.  The Plan allows mixing zones for TMDL-derived effluent limitations, i.e. for pollutants for which the receiving water already exceeds water quality standards.  See id. at 13.  


The Plan prohibits mixing zones under certain conditions, but fails to prohibit mixing zones for persistent and bioaccumulative pollutants.  These pollutants do not readily degrade, so instead of being assimilated and diluted in the receiving water, they persist and accumulate in the tissues of aquatic organisms and in sediments.  Discharges of these pollutants at levels above the criterion therefore have a significant potential to contribute to exceedances of narrative criteria for fish tissue and sediment contamination outside the mixing zone and to degrade water quality in violation of the federal antidegradation policy.


If the receiving water is already impaired for a persistent or bioaccumulative pollutant, the water has zero capacity to assimilate the pollutant, and allowance of a mixing zone in which the discharge exceeds the criterion would be certain to exceed the criterion outside the mixing zone and would degrade water quality in violation of the federal antidegradation policy.


The Plan fails to require that the boundary of the mixing zone be defined or that sampling be conducted at the edge of the zone to verify that water quality criteria are being met at the boundary.  If the mixing zone has no defined boundary, it is impossible to ensure that the mixing zone does not dominate the water or overlap with other mixing zones, or to determine whether water quality criteria are actually being met at the edge of the zone.


Compliance Schedules


The Inland Waters Plan authorizes Regional Boards to issue to existing dischargers permits with a “compliance schedule,” if the discharger claims that it is infeasible to achieve immediate compliance with a criterion contained in the CTR.  Inland Waters Plan at 18.  A compliance schedule includes specified actions that must be taken in order to bring the discharge into compliance with a water quality-based effluent limitation, and deadlines for completion of those actions.  Id.  The Plan authorizes compliance schedules of as long as 10 years to establish and comply with a CTR criteria-based effluent limit, and as long as 20 years to establish and comply with a TMDL-derived effluent limit.  Id. at 19.  Consequently, the Plan in effect authorizes non-compliance with water quality-based effluent limitations for priority toxic pollutants throughout the entire term of the permit.


The State Board is without authority to authorize compliance schedules of these lengths for at least the following reasons:


(a)	The CWA provides that a compliance schedule may not allow for compliance later than an applicable statutory deadline under that Act.  40 C.F.R. § 122.47(a)(1).  The statutory deadline applicable to water quality-based effluent limitations was July 1, 1977.  33 U.S.C. § 1311(b)(1)(C).  The Board is therefore without authority to authorize compliance schedules for water quality-based effluent limitations.


(b)	The Clean Water Act requires that states promptly establish TMDLs for impaired waters.  33 U.S.C. § 1313(d).  Nearly 30 months after the Act’s passage, the State has established only a handful of TMDLs for its impaired waters.  The State Board is therefore without authority to authorize an additional 15 years to establish TMDLs and five years beyond that to comply with TMDL-based effluent limits.


(c)	Permits are issued for a fixed term which may not exceed five years.  33 U.S.C. § 1342(b)(1)(B); 40 C.F.R. § 122.46(a).  The State Board is without authority effectively to extend permits beyond a five-year term by including in those permits compliance schedules that extend beyond the five-year life of the permit.


(d)	The issuance of permits is subject to extensive public participation requirements, which are set forth in 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b)(2)(3) and 40 C.F.R. §§ 124.6-124.18.  If a permit contains measures that extend beyond its term into a subsequent permit, the public is deprived of meaningful opportunity to comment on the subsequent permit.  The State Board is without authority so to eviscerate the public participation requirements of the CWA.


Compliance Determinations Based on “Minimum Levels”


The Inland Waters Plan contains procedures which Regional Boards must use to determine whether a discharger is complying with the effluent limitations in its permit.  The Plan authorizes compliance determinations to be based on the “minimum level” for a pollutant instead of the water quality-based effluent limitation for that pollutant.  Inland Waters Plan at 23.  The “minimum level,” which is included in the permit along with the effluent limitation, is the level at which the pollutant can be detected and accurately quantified, and it is often a higher number than the criterion or effluent limitation for that pollutant.  The Plan provides that a discharger is deemed to be out of compliance with an effluent limitation only if its effluent monitoring detects the pollutant at a level both greater than the effluent limitation and greater than or equal to the minimum level.  Id. at 25.  In short, the discharger may violate the water quality-based effluent limitation with impunity so long as the minimum level is not exceeded.  This provision effectively authorizes the issuance of permits that contain effluent limitations that are less stringent than, and not based on, water quality standards, and are therefore not authorized by section 301 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), (b).


By authorizing the inclusion of the “minimum level” in the permit, and providing that dischargers are deemed in compliance with the permit so long as this level is met, the Plan illegally interferes with the right of any citizen to “commence a civil action . . . against any person . . . who is alleged to be in violation of . . . an effluent standard or limitation under this chapter . . . .”  33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1)(A).


Where the discharger uses a quantification method not consistent with the definition of a minimum level, the Inland Waters Plan allows the discharger, the Regional Board, and the State Board to agree on a “lowest quantifiable limit” to substitute for the minimum level for reporting and compliance determination purposes.  Inland Waters Plan at 24.  This provision is an improper partial delegation to the discharger of the State Board’s and Regional Boards’ permitting authority and is not authorized by the NPDES permitting regulations at 40 C.F.R. parts 122, 123 and 124. 


Dioxin Equivalents


Dioxin, more formally known as 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin, or 2,3,7,8-TCDD, is one of the most toxic substances known.  Closely related to dioxin are two families of chemicals, chlorodibenzo-p-dioxins (“dioxins,” or “CDDs”) and chlorodibenzo-p-furans (“furans,” or “CDFs”), that have similar health effects because of their structural similarity.  Dioxins and furans usually occur in the environment in combinations rather than individually.  These chemicals are highly toxic, environmentally persistent, bioaccumulative, and, in some cases, carcinogenic. 


EPA has established numerical criteria for 2,3,7,8-TCDD itself, but not for any of the closely-related CDDs or CDFs.  Instead, the EPA has stated that it expects the State Board to do so.


The Inland Waters Plan fails to require the Regional Boards to include in permits water quality-based effluent limitations for these dioxin equivalents.  Instead, the Inland Waters Plan requires only that certain dischargers monitor for these chemicals.  Inland Waters Plan at 27-28.  After a three-year monitoring period, the data must be assessed for a determination of “whether further monitoring is necessary.”  Id. at 28.  There is no requirement that water quality-based effluent limitations ever be imposed for dioxin equivalents, despite the well-documented presence of dioxins and furans in many California rivers, lakes, bays, and estuaries at levels that exceed narrative toxicity criteria.


Other regulatory programs implemented by the State Board — for example the Ocean Plan, which regulates waste discharges into marine waters — impose limits on discharges of dioxin equivalents, and the EPA in the CTR strongly encourages the State Board to apply this regulatory approach to inland waters as well.  The State Board’s failure to implement a similar regulatory program in the Inland Waters Plan is arbitrary and capricious and constitutes a prejudicial abuse of its discretion.


Case-by-Case Exceptions


The Inland Waters Plan includes a broadly-worded provision for case-by-case exceptions to compliance with a priority toxic pollutant criterion/objective or any other provision of the Plan.  See Inland Waters Plan at 34.  Neither the Porter-Cologne Act nor the Clean Water Act provides for such case-by-case exceptions, and this provision is therefore beyond the authority of the State Board. 


FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION


Writ of Mandate for Violations of Porter-Cologne Act (CCP § 1085)


Petitioners re-allege, as if fully set forth herein, each and every allegation contained in the preceding paragraphs.


The State Board is the designated agency for all water pollution control purposes under the Clean Water Act and is authorized to exercise any powers designated to the State by the federal Act.  Water Code § 13160.  The provisions of the Porter-Cologne Act must be read to conform with the requirements of the federal Act, id. § 13372, and permits issued by the State Board or Regional Boards must “apply and ensure compliance with all applicable provisions of the [Clean Water Act] . . . .”  Id. § 13377.


By violating the Clean Water Act in the respects enumerated in the Second Cause of Action, below, the State Board in the Inland Waters Plan has failed to conform with the requirements of the Clean Water Act and has failed to apply and ensure compliance with applicable provisions of the Clean Water Act, in violation of Water Code §§ 13372 and 13377.


By authorizing the Regional Boards to issue permits that fail to achieve or implement water quality standards for priority toxic pollutants in each of the respects enumerated below, the State Board has violated its duties under Water Code §§ 13370-13389.  In so doing, the State Board has acted arbitrarily and capriciously and has prejudicially abused its discretion by failing to proceed in the manner required by law.  Accordingly, the Inland Waters Plan must be set aside.


SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION


Writ of Mandate for Violations of Clean Water Act (CCP § 1085)


Petitioners re-allege, as if fully set forth herein, each and every allegation contained in the preceding paragraphs.


The State Board in the Inland Waters Plan has violated the federal Clean Water Act in at least each of the following respects:


(a)	Ambient Background Concentrations.  Use of the observed maximum ambient background concentration for determining whether a water quality-based effluent limitation is required, for calculating the effluent limitation, and for determining intake water credits, is scientifically indefensible, is not supported by the evidence, and will result in discharges that exceed numerical and narrative criteria, in violation of 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(b)(1)(C), 1342(a)(1), and 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(1),(2) (made binding on the states by 40 C.F.R. § 123.25).


(b)	Reasonable Potential Analysis.  The Inland Water Plan’s “reasonable potential analysis” for determining whether a water quality-based effluent limitation is required for a priority toxic pollutant discharge uses a methodology that is scientifically indefensible, is not supported by the evidence, and will result in discharges that exceed numerical and narrative criteria, in violation of 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(b)(1)(C), 1342(a)(1), and 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(1),(2).


(c)	Mixing Zones and Dilution Credits.  The Inland Waters Plan:  authorizes mixing zones and dilution credits for persistent and bioaccumulative pollutants, in violation of 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(b)(1)(C), 1342(a)(1), and 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(1),(2); fails to require that the boundaries of the mixing zone be defined, which will result in discharges that exceed narrative criteria outside the mixing zone, in violation of 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(b)(1)(C), 1342(a)(1), and 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(1),(2); and authorizes mixing zones that violate the federal antidegradation policy.  40 C.F.R. § 131.12.


(d)	Compliance Schedules.  The Inland Waters Plan authorizes the Regional Boards to issue discharge permits that include compliance schedules that extend beyond the applicable statutory deadline and beyond the five-year life of the permit, in violation of 33 U.S.C. § 1311(b)(2)(C) and 40 C.F.R. § 122.47(a)(1) (prohibiting compliance schedules from extending beyond a statutory deadline); 33 U.S.C. § 1313(d) (requiring prompt establishment of TMDLs); 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b)(1)(B) and 40 C.F.R. § 122.46(a) (limiting permits to a five-year term); and 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b)(2)(3) and 40 C.F.R. §§ 124.6-124.18 (public participation requirements).


(e)	Compliance Determinations Based on “Minimum Levels”.  The Inland Waters Plan requires that the Regional Boards base their determinations of compliance with water quality-based effluent limitations on compliance with “minimum level”-based effluent limitations that are not authorized by the Porter-Cologne Act or Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a),(b).  Moreover, this provision illegally interferes with citizen enforcement of effluent limitations authorized by 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1)(A), and is an improper delegation of the State Board’s permitting authority.


(f)	Dioxin Equivalents.  The Inland Waters Plan fails to require effluent limitations for discharges of highly toxic dioxins and furans, and therefore authorizes discharges that will exceed narrative toxicity criteria, in violation of 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(b)(1)(C), 1342(a)(1), and 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(1)(i),(vi).


(g)	Case-by-Case Exceptions.  The Inland Waters Plan allows the Regional Boards to grant case-by-case exceptions to the requirement of water quality-based effluent limitations that are not authorized by the Porter-Cologne Act or Clean Water Act.


In each of the respects enumerated above, the State Board, in the Inland Waters Plan, has authorized the Regional Boards to issue permits that do not attain and implement water quality standards for priority toxic pollutants in California’s inland waters, in violation of 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(b)(1)(C), 1312(a), 1313(d), 1342(a)(1), and 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(1), and that do not otherwise meet the requirements of the Clean Water Act.  In so doing, the State Board has acted arbitrarily and capriciously and has prejudicially abused its discretion by failing to proceed in the manner required by law.  Accordingly, the Inland Waters Plan must be set aside.


THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION


Declaratory Relief (CCP § 1060)


Petitioners re-allege, as if fully set forth herein, each and every allegation contained in the preceding paragraphs.


An actual controversy exists between the parties.  Petitioners contend that the State Board has acted in violation of the Porter-Cologne Act and Clean Water Act, and that the Court must vacate and set aside the Inland Waters Plan.  The State Board disputes these contentions.  A judicial resolution of this controversy is necessary and appropriate.


FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION


Injunctive Relief (CCP § 526)


Petitioners re-allege, as if fully set forth herein, each and every allegation contained in the preceding paragraphs.


Petitioners have exhausted their administrative remedies.


Unless petitioners are granted injunctive relief they will suffer irreparable injury in that the implementation of the Inland Waters Plan will result in the issuance by the Regional Boards of discharge permits valid for at least five years that will not achieve or implement water quality standards for priority toxic pollutants in California’s inland waters, thereby causing long-term harm to petitioners and their members and supporters and creating the adverse environmental effects previously described herein, to the detriment of petitioners and their members and supporters.


Petitioners lack an adequate remedy at law because monetary damages cannot be ascertained and petitioners and their members and supporters cannot be compensated for the environmental degradation caused by the actions of the State Board complained of herein.


PRAYER FOR RELIEF


WHEREFORE, petitioners pray for relief as follows:


For a peremptory writ of mandate, pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 1085, directed to the State Board and Regional Boards:


(a)	Finding and declaring that the State Board in the Inland Waters Plan unlawfully authorizes the Regional Boards to issue permits that do not attain and implement water quality standards for priority toxic pollutants in California’s inland waters and do not otherwise meet the requirements of the Clean Water Act;


(b)	Ordering the State Board to rescind the Inland Waters Plan and forthwith to initiate appropriate rulemaking proceedings to devise an Inland Waters Plan that provides consistent statewide measures for achieving and implementing water quality standards for priority toxic pollutants in California’s inland waters and that otherwise meets the requirements of the Clean Water Act; and


(c)	Ordering that all permits issued by the Regional Boards pending development of a legally adequate Inland Waters Plan be explicitly made subject to modification by the State Board or the Regional Boards as necessary to achieve and implement water quality standards for priority toxic pollutants in California’s inland waters and to otherwise meet the requirements of the Clean Water Act.


	2.	For a declaratory judgment, finding that the State Board in the Inland Waters Plan unlawfully authorizes the Regional Boards to issue permits that will not achieve or implement water quality standards for priority toxic pollutants in California’s inland waters or otherwise meet the requirements of the Clean Water Act in the respects enumerated above;


3.	For a preliminary and permanent injunction:


(a)	Restraining the State Board and Regional Boards from acting to implement the Inland Waters Plan;


(b)	Ordering the State Board to rescind the Inland Waters Plan and forthwith to initiate appropriate rulemaking proceedings to devise an Inland Waters Plan that provides consistent statewide measures for achieving and implementing water quality standards for priority toxic pollutants in California’s inland waters and otherwise meets the requirements of the Clean Water Act; and


(c)	Ordering that all permits issued by the Regional Boards pending development of a legally adequate Inland Waters Plan be explicitly made subject to modification by the State Board or the Regional Boards as necessary to achieve and implement water quality standards for priority toxic pollutants in California’s inland waters and to otherwise meet the requirements of the Clean Water Act.


4.	For an order that petitioners be awarded their costs of suit herein, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, as authorized by CCP § 1021.5; and


5.	For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.
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DATED:  May ____, 2000				_____________________________


	REBECCA L. BERNARD


	MICHAEL R. SHERWOOD


	Earthjustice Legal Defense Fund


	180 Montgomery St., Ste. 1725


	San Francisco, CA  94104


	Telephone:  415/627-6725


	Facsimile:  415/627-6749








	DANIEL G. COOPER


	LAYNE K. FRIEDRICH


	Lawyers for Clean Water


	P.O. Box 29921


	San Francisco, CA  94129-0921


	Telephone:  415/561-2222


	Facsimile:  415/561-2223





	Attorneys for Petitioners and Plaintiffs WaterKeepers Northern California, et al.
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VERIFICATION








	I, Jonathan Kaplan, am Acting Executive Director for WaterKeepers Northern California, one of the petitioners in the above-entitled proceedings.  I have read the foregoing petition and complaint and know the contents thereof.  The same is true of my own knowledge, except as to those matters that are therein stated on information and belief, and as to those matters, I believe them to be true.  I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct and that this verification was executed on May ____, 2000, at San Francisco, California.








	____________________________


	JONATHAN KAPLAN
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